Sleep and Synaptic Homeostasis

Vladyslav V. Vyazovskiy and Ugo Faraguna

Abstract In the last decades a substantial knowledge about sleep mechanisms has been accumulated. However, the function of sleep still remains elusive. The difficulty with unraveling sleep's function may arise from the lack of understanding of how the multitude of processes associated with waking and sleep-from gene expression and single neuron activity to the whole brain dynamics and behavior functionally and mechanistically relate to each other. Therefore, novel conceptual frameworks, which integrate and take into account the variety of phenomena occurring during waking and sleep at different levels, will likely lead to advances in our understanding of the function of sleep, above and beyond what merely descriptive or correlative approaches can provide. One such framework, the synaptic homeostasis hypothesis, focuses on wake- and sleep-dependent changes in synaptic strength. The core claim of this hypothesis is that learning and experience during wakefulness are associated with a net increase in synaptic strength. In turn, the proposed function of sleep is to provide synaptic renormalization, which has important implications with respect to energy needs, intracranial space, metabolic supplies, and, importantly, enables further plastic changes. In this article we review the empirical evidence for this hypothesis, which was obtained at several levels-from gene expression and cellular excitability to structural synaptic modifications and behavioral outcomes. We conclude that although the mechanisms behind the proposed role of sleep in synaptic homeostasis are undoubtedly complex, this conceptual framework offers a unique opportunity to provide mechanistic and functional explanation for many previously disparate observations, and define future research strategies.

V. V. Vyazovskiy (🖂)

© Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2014 Curr Topics Behav Neurosci (2015) 25: 91–121 DOI 10.1007/7854_2014_301 Published Online: 22 May 2014

Department of Physiology, Anatomy and Genetics, University of Oxford, Parks Road, Oxford OX1 3PT, UK e-mail: vladyslav.vyazovskiy@dpag.ox.ac.uk

U. Faraguna Department of Translational Research on New Technologies in Medicine and Surgery, Università di Pisa, Via San Zeno 31, 56127 Pisa, Italy

Keywords Homeostasis • Slow waves • Slow wave activity • Synaptic downscaling • Pruning

Contents

1	Introduction	- 92
2	Electrical Activity of the Awake and Sleeping Brain	93
3	Global and Local Sleep Regulation	94
4	Sleep, Neuroplasticity, and Synaptic Homeostasis	98
5	Experimental Observations that can be Explained by Synaptic Homeostasis	99
	5.1 Molecular Markers of Plasticity, Cellular Stress, and Sleep	100
	5.2 Cellular Physiology and Sleep Homeostasis	102
	5.3 Network Homeostasis	104
	5.4 Neuronal Structural Modifications Across the Sleep–Wake Cycle	107
	5.5 Functional Implications	108
	5.6 Behavioral Homeostasis	109
6	Conclusions	111
Re	ferences	112

1 Introduction

Sleep has been defined as a reversible behavioral state, during which the sensory input is reduced, coordinated behavior is abolished, and cognitive activities are suspended (Borbely and Tononi 1998). Importantly, sleep is not only a state but is also a process, as it is manifested in specific patterns of brain activity that unfold in time and space in a highly complex manner. Despite several attempts to answer the fundamental question about the function(s) of sleep, why we sleep remains a mystery. In the last decades, many hypotheses for the function of sleep have been proposed, focusing on the maintenance of cellular energy homeostasis, synaptic plasticity, memory consolidation, thermoregulation, macromolecule biosynthesis, and others (Abel et al. 2013; Cirelli and Tononi 2008; Diekelmann and Born 2010; Frank 2006; Mackiewicz et al. 2007; Mignot 2008; Varshavsky 2012; Vyazovskiy and Harris 2013). These hypotheses are not mutually exclusive, and it is possible that sleep enables a variety of processes at the level of molecules, synapses, single neurons (and other cells), small and large neural networks, or the whole organism to occur in parallel. This chapter will address one specific hypothesis, known as the Synaptic Homeostasis Hypothesis (SHY), proposed by Tononi and Cirelli (2003, 2006, 2014). The SHY reconciles a multitude of empirical observations in a coherent framework, and bridges the gap between phenomena occurring at the level of individual synapses, the whole brain dynamics and behavioral performance.

2 Electrical Activity of the Awake and Sleeping Brain

The activity of the brain in mammals shows continuous fluctuations at multiple temporal and spatial scales, and it is tightly linked to vigilance states, movement, behavior and sensory processing (Nir et al. 2013; Petersen et al. 2003; Sakata and Harris 2009; Steriade et al. 2001; Vyazovskiy 2013; Vyazovskiy et al. 2009b; Vyazovskiy and Tobler 2012). Above all, on a timescale of minutes to hours the brain fluctuates regularly between two distinct states: wakefulness and sleep, which is of two kinds: non-rapid eye movement (NREM) sleep and REM sleep. A fundamental difference in brain activity defining wakefulness versus sleep arises from the necessity to engage in the acquisition and processing of information from the environment. Brain activity during awake states is largely regulated by ascending activating influences from specific subcortical waking-promoting areas (Brown et al. 2012; Jones 2005) and ongoing behavior (Petersen et al. 2003; Vyazovskiy et al. 2006). This is reflected in the wake electroencephalogram (EEG), which is distinguished from sleep by the absence of slow waves $(\sim 0.1-4 \text{ Hz})$ and, in rodents, by pronounced theta activity $(\sim 6-9 \text{ Hz})$ presumably arising from the hippocampus (Green and Arduini 1954; Sirota et al. 2008) (Fig. 1).

Conversely, cortical activity during NREM sleep is generally slower compared to both wakefulness and REM sleep (Hobson and McCarley 1971; Steriade et al. 2001; Vyazovskiy et al. 2004b, 2009b). Early studies showed that, upon falling asleep, the quasi-independent firing of neurons typical of the awake state is replaced by regular synchronous bursts of action potentials (Noda and Adey 1970; Verzeano and Negishi 1960). In more recent studies, intracellular single-cell recordings have shown that, during NREM sleep, virtually all cortical neurons engage in the so-called slow (<1 Hz) oscillation, consisting of a depolarized up state, when neurons show sustained firing, and a hyperpolarized down state, characterized by neuronal silence (Destexhe et al. 1999; Steriade et al. 1993c). During the up state, both pyramidal cells and interneurons are active, and excitation and inhibition are balanced at the synaptic level (Haider et al. 2006; Okun and Lampl 2008). Simultaneous EEG and intracellular or extracellular recordings have shown that slow waves are associated with transitions between up and down states or on and off periods in large populations of cortical neurons (Ji and Wilson 2007; Steriade et al. 2001), and high amplitude slow waves are associated with longer periods of neuronal silence (Fig. 2) and tighter synchrony at on-off and offon transitions (Vyazovskiy and Harris 2013; Vyazovskiy et al. 2009b).

Surprisingly, 20 years after the slow oscillation was first described in the seminal triad of papers by Steriade et al. (1993a, b, c), its functional role remains unclear. At the macroscopic EEG level, the cellular slow oscillation is reflected in the Slow Wave Activity (SWA, EEG power between 0.5 and 4.0 Hz) during NREM sleep (Borbely 1982), which is the best characterized physiological marker of sleep intensity. One of the main defining features of sleep is that it is homeostatically



Fig. 1 a Twenty four hour EEG power spectra in NREM sleep, REM sleep and waking in one representative adult male rat (Wistar Kyoto strain). **b** EEG signals and corresponding cortical multiunit activity (raster plots below; each bar is a spike) representative of the three vigilance states. Note the fast irregular pattern of cortical firing in waking and REM sleep, and regular occurrence of generalized neuronal silence, corresponding to EEG slow waves, in NREM sleep

regulated (Cirelli and Tononi 2008; Tobler 2005). The main postulate of sleep homeostasis is "the longer we are active (and, perhaps, the more we are active), the deeper our subsequent sleep" (Daan et al. 1984). In other words, this implies that sleep need (or "sleep pressure") increases in proportion to the preceding duration of waking, and then dissipates during the ensuing sleep in proportion to its duration and intensity. In mammals and birds, sleep SWA is high in early sleep and decreases progressively within sleep to reach low levels several hours later (Jones et al. 2008; Tobler and Borbely 1986). This dynamics of sleep slow wave activity suggests that sleep is associated with a recovery process. However, neither the nature of the putative recovery processes, nor its relationship with the homeostatic changes in SWA are clear (Vyazovskiy and Harris 2013).

3 Global and Local Sleep Regulation

The first and perhaps most essential question that needs to be addressed is, what is "recovered" during sleep after wakefulness? This question implies that being awake is associated with certain molecular, structural, or functional changes in the



Fig. 2 *Left panel* individual local field potential slow waves during spontaneous NREM sleep in one individual rat. Four hundred slow waves were detected, and are sorted as a function of their amplitude (*gray intensity coded*, highest amplitude slow waves are on the *top*). *Right panel* corresponding raster plots of cortical multiunit activity. Note that high amplitude slow waves (*top*) are associated with longer silent periods across the recorded neuronal population

brain, which occur progressively and can only be reversed by sleep. The term "recovery" could either apply to specific measurable variables (from metabolic ones, such as cerebral glycogen stores, to cognitive ones, such as reaction times in the psychomotor vigilance task) or, in a broader sense, refer to an overall optimal waking function, which consists of many components and is determined by a variety of factors. The original notion that sleep has a homeostatic recovery function was proposed based on the observation that the levels of EEG slow wave activity during sleep increase in proportion to preceding waking duration and decrease during subsequent sleep. This relationship was mathematically formalized by using a simulation approach, where the temporal evolution of sleep-wake dependent process (so-called Process S) was modeled with a set of exponential functions using such parameters as time constants of an increase and a decrease, the lower and higher asymptote, and others (Borbély and Achermann 2005; Franken et al. 2001; Huber et al. 2000a; Rusterholz et al. 2010; Vyazovskiy et al. 2007a; Zavada et al. 2009). According to this model, sleep pressure, as reflected in SWA, increases during waking and decreases during sleep (Deboer 2013). Notably, NREM SWA increases after wakefulness not only in mammals, but also in birds (Jones et al. 2008; Martinez-Gonzalez et al. 2008).

It is now widely accepted that not only waking duration, but also waking quality is essential, such that the same duration of wake period can lead to markedly different sleep patterns if wake experience is qualitatively different. Important insights have been obtained from studies in which the content of waking experience was manipulated by inducing specific behaviors. For example, in one study rats were subjected to a stressful social defeat, which resulted in a substantial increase of subsequent EEG slow wave activity (Meerlo et al. 1997). More recently, it was found that the same amount of waking in the light and in the darkness appeared to lead to markedly different levels of SWA, which correlated with the amount of preceding exploratory behavior (Huber et al. 2007). Moreover, EEG theta activity, which is a marker of behavioral arousal and active locomotion, predicted the levels of SWA in subsequent sleep in rats subjected to chronic sleep restriction (Leemburg et al. 2010).

Notably, the association between the type of preceding activity and subsequent sleep is also apparent at a local level. Specifically, this was shown by performing finer topographic analyses, in experiments using selective local or peripheral stimulation, or in studies which recorded the activity of individual neurons (Krueger and Tononi 2011). Almost half a century ago, Giuseppe Moruzzi proposed that sleep might entail a cellular dimension: "sleep concerns primarily not the whole cerebrum, nor even the entire neocortex, but only those neurons or synapses, and possibly glia cells, which during wakefulness are responsible for the brain functions concerned with conscious behavior" (Moruzzi 1972). The local, use-dependent facet of sleep regulation had been suggested about 20 years ago, and since then it has received substantial experimental support (Krueger and Obal 1993; Krueger et al. 2008). The most appealing evidence for the local occurrence of sleep has been obtained from marine mammals, such as dolphins and seals, which exhibit unihemispheric slow wave activity while in water (Lyamin et al. 2012: Mukhametov et al. 1977). Such asymmetries appear to be homeostatically regulated, as manifested in a unilateral increase of SWA after selective suppression confined to one hemisphere (Oleksenko et al. 1992). Spontaneous interhemispheric asymmetries of the EEG during sleep have also been found, albeit to a much lesser extent, in birds (Rattenborg et al. 2001, 2012), humans, (Achermann et al. 2001; Nir et al. 2011) and rodents (Vyazovskiy et al. 2002a). In addition, strong anterior-posterior gradients in the expression of SWA have been shown in rodents (Huber et al. 2000b; Vyazovskiy et al. 2002a, b, 2004c, 2007c, 2008b; Vyazovskiy and Tobler 2005) and humans (Cajochen et al. 1999; Marzano et al. 2009; Massimini et al. 2004; Werth et al. 1996).

The evidence for a local, use- or activity- dependent increase in sleep slow wave activity has been obtained from several species and many experimental paradigms. For example, in both rats and mice, spontaneous unilateral whisker stimulation led to a significant increase in SWA over the stimulated somatosensory cortex during subsequent sleep (Vyazovskiy et al. 2000, 2004c). Rats trained to perform a skilled reaching task exhibit locally increased SWA in the primary motor cortex during post-training NREM sleep (Hanlon et al. 2009; Vyazovskiy and Tobler 2008). In humans, unilateral vibratory stimulation of the right hand led



Fig. 3 *Left* a typical 2-s EEG trace and corresponding multiunit activity (MUA) recorded from the frontal motor cortex in one individual rat during waking at the beginning of sleep deprivation. *Right* three representative examples of EEG and MUA in an awake rat at the end of 4-h sleep deprivation. Note that despite wake-like EEG signals, the neuronal population often shows generalized quasi-synchronous cessation of neuronal firing, as during NREM sleep

to an increase in SWA over the left somatosensory area during subsequent sleep (Kattler et al. 1994). Moreover, a visuomotor learning task led to a local modulation in SWA during subsequent sleep that was significantly increased over the right parietal cortex (Huber et al. 2004). Conversely, following immobilization of one arm during the day, NREM sleep SWA was reduced over the corresponding contralateral somatosensory cortex (Huber et al. 2006). Finally, in rodents, local pharmacological manipulations of neuronal activity during waking altered the expression of sleep-like activity in the corresponding cortical areas (Churchill et al. 2008; Faraguna et al. 2008, 2010). Notably, signs of "local sleep" have been documented in behaviorally active animals (Pigarev et al. 1997; Vyazovskiy et al. 2011b; Vyazovskiy and Tobler 2008), suggesting that wakefulness is associated with an increasing drive to engage in a sleep-like mode of activity within specific neuronal circuits (Fig. 3). This notion was supported by a recent human study showing local, task-related changes in slow frequency EEG activity in awake subjects (Hung et al. 2013). The underlying mechanism of increased propensity to engage in down-states at a single neuron level is unknown but may be related to the growing need to obtain metabolic recovery or perform necessary cellular maintenance processes after sustained waking activity (Vyazovskiy and Harris 2013).



Fig. 4 Some of the essential factors that determine the occurrence of individual spikes, instantaneous changes in spiking activity, and long-term changes in neuronal responsiveness

Alternatively, or in addition, local changes in sleep-related activities may reflect synaptic changes.

4 Sleep, Neuroplasticity, and Synaptic Homeostasis

The ultimate function of neural or synaptic plasticity is to provide greater flexibility in the interaction of the organism with the constantly changing environment. It is not surprising, therefore, that several forms of neuroplasticity are highly conserved across evolution (Ebendal 1992; Qiu et al. 2006). It still remains to be established when neuronal plasticity first emerged, but it is undoubtedly present already in invertebrates (Bailey and Kandel 2008). Ultimately synaptic plasticity concerns the interaction between individual neurons. Within the brain, neurons integrate thousands of synaptic inputs from local and distant neurons at a timescale of milliseconds, but usually respond with only a few spikes per second. There are many intrinsic and extrinsic factors which influence neuronal spiking activity on a moment to moment basis (Fig. 4). However, even if all these factors remain stable, the capacity to respond to incoming inputs appears to be ultimately determined by the total synaptic weight impinging on a particular neuron, which must therefore be strictly regulated. Indeed, as the brain is constantly receiving sensory information, it must be continuously performing complex computational tasks, such as extracting relevant patterns of information from the multisensory world outside, determined by the context, future goals and preceding experience.

For synaptic plasticity to be beneficial, it must be regulated to prevent it from taking an aberrant form (Parent et al. 1997). Moreover, the regulation of net synaptic strength is vital for survival, inasmuch as it allows re-allocation of the

existing, limited amount of resources in a most efficient way, e.g., toward those neurons or local or distributed neuronal networks, which are most relevant for the ongoing behavior, or those, which were most affected by preceding activity. Dynamic adjustments of spiking outputs depending on the input can occur both on a fast scale, such as spike-frequency adaptation of individual neurons (Fuhrmann et al. 2002) and on a slower timescale, corresponding to homeostatic scaling (Turrigiano 1999) or Hebbian plasticity (Abbott and Nelson 2000). Homeostatic scaling refers to a mechanism, by which firing activity of individual neurons and neuronal circuits is maintained within a specific range, and has been demonstrated both in vitro and in vivo (Hengen et al. 2013; Ibata et al. 2008; Turrigiano 1999). In contrast, Hebbian mechanisms refer to a bidirectional form of plasticity, whereby the weight of synaptic connections between two neurons is increased or decreased depending on precise timing of their respective activities (Abbott and Nelson 2000; Caporale and Dan 2008). As the mechanisms of synaptic plasticity are highly elaborate (Malenka and Bear 2004; Turrigiano 2008), there is a great potential for malfunctioning (Nava and Roder 2011) and a breakdown in some key elements, such as signaling pathways (Lockett et al. 2010), or specific synaptic proteins (Bhakar et al. 2012) is detrimental. This may be manifested primarily in pathologic forms of activity incompatible with normal behaviors, and lead to neuronal damage, severe disease, or death.

Intriguingly, the general features aforementioned about plasticity largely apply to sleep as well. It is conserved across evolution (Cirelli and Tononi 2008; Tobler 2005), it is considered to be vitally important (Rechtschaffen et al. 1999), its mechanisms are highly complex (Brown et al. 2012), and it is prone to various disturbances (Porkka-Heiskanen et al. 2013). Finally, both neural plasticity and sleep are activity-dependent processes. As synaptic activity invariably leads to modifications of individual synapses potentially affecting neuronal spiking output, sleep invariably occurs after a certain amount of (waking) activity, and its major defining electrical event in mammals—EEG slow wave activity—is determined by preceding local neuronal activity. In fact, activity dependence of both plasticity and sleep are their most essential, if not defining features. On one hand, sustained synaptic activity invariably leads to some form of plastic changes. On the other hand, continuous physiological waking cannot be sustained for longer than a few hours or days and is consistently followed by local and global sleep (Cirelli and Tononi 2008).

5 Experimental Observations that can be Explained by Synaptic Homeostasis

The SHY reconciles many empirical observations concerning sleep and plasticity in a comprehensive theoretical framework. In the original formulation of the SHY proposed by Tononi and Cirelli in 2003, it had the following tenets: "(1) Wakefulness

is associated with synaptic potentiation in several cortical circuits; (2) Synaptic potentiation is tied to the homeostatic regulation of NREM sleep EEG slow wave activity; (3) Slow wave activity is associated with synaptic downscaling; (4) Synaptic downscaling is tied to the beneficial effects of sleep on neural function and, indirectly, on performance" (Tononi and Cirelli 2003). According to this hypothesis, a key variable that changes systematically during wakefulness, and must be restored back to baseline levels during sleep, is net synaptic weight. It is further suggested that since synaptic strength is tightly linked to energy needs, space, metabolic supplies, and, importantly, to the capacity for further plasticity, restoration of net synaptic strength by sleep would ultimately lead to renormalization of all these variables. The SHY has emerged as a conceptual shell based on a large body of disparate or unexplained findings accumulated over the last decades, and subsequently triggered intensive efforts in many laboratories around the world. Various models and experimental paradigms have been exploited in this framework—from single-cell recordings to complex cognitive tasks, and empirical observations have been obtained at several different levels: molecular, cellular, network, structural, functional, and behavioral. Each of these levels will be considered below, in an attempt to integrate them into a consistent picture.

5.1 Molecular Markers of Plasticity, Cellular Stress, and Sleep

Waking and sleep are associated with systematic changes in the expression and/or release of a variety of molecules, directly or indirectly involved in synaptic plasticity as well as in many other essential cellular functions. After the pioneering experiments by Giuditta et al., in the 1970s and 1980s, showing that overall RNA synthesis was increased during NREM sleep (Giuditta et al. 1980), a series of approaches including PCR, in situ hybridization, mRNA differential display and microarray have shown that several clusters of transcripts known to directly or indirectly influence plasticity are modulated across the sleep-wake cycle and after sleep deprivation. Among the established sleep-promoting substances is the tumor necrosis factor (TNF), which under physiological conditions increases during synaptic activity and can promote sleep when administered externally (Churchill et al. 2008; Krueger et al. 2001; Obal and Krueger 2003). While it remains to be determined to what extent TNF is essential for sleep regulation in physiological conditions, the involvement of TNF in the modulation of synaptic plasticity has been described (Stellwagen and Malenka 2006). Among the effects of TNF on plastic processes, a regulation of glutamate signaling by increasing expression of AMPA receptors has been reported (Pickering et al. 2005). Notably, in the rat cerebral cortex, the expression of GluR1-containing AMPA receptors were found to increase after waking (Vyazovskiy et al. 2008a). On the other hand, TNF-alpha administration led to a decrease in brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) mRNA in several brain regions (Churchill et al. 2006). Several studies have shown that BDNF, which has been implicated in various forms of synaptic plasticity (Gomez-Palacio-Schjetnan and Escobar 2013), is expressed after sleep deprivation (Cirelli and Tononi 2000a), and especially after active exploratory waking (Huber et al. 2007), while its intracortical infusion enhances local sleep SWA (Faraguna et al. 2008). Also, the cortical expression of BDNF seems to parallel the homeostatic response to sleep deprivation in neonatal rats (Hairston et al. 2004). It should be noted, however, that another study showed that in the neocortex, neither 8 nor 48 h SD had significant effects on BDNF. Synapsin I or CAMKII mRNA levels (Guzman-Marin et al. 2006). In the hippocampus, the picture seems to also be complex: according to some reports BDNF appears to be down-regulated by 8 h of sleep deprivation (Alhaider et al. 2011; Guzman-Marin et al. 2006), while others detected an increase within both the cerebral cortex and the hippocampus (Cirelli et al. 2006; Cirelli and Tononi 2000a; Fujihara et al. 2003). Furthermore, one study found that 12 h SD significantly reduced hippocampal AMPA receptor phosphorylation at the GluR1-S845 site (Hagewoud et al. 2010). Together with TNF-alpha and BDNF, the list of molecules both involved in neuroplasticity and fluctuating across the sleep-wake cycle includes but is not limited to: Homer1a (Maret et al. 2007), Zif-268 (Ribeiro et al. 2002) and Arc (Ribeiro et al. 2007; Seibt et al. 2012). However, it remains to be determined whether the changes in these molecules are related to the proposed increase in synaptic strength or have other roles.

According to SHY, prolonged waking activity leads to increased synaptic strength and, as a result, increased spiking and synaptic activity (Vyazovskiy et al. 2009b). In order to sustain neuronal function at a higher level of excitability, cellular synthetic processes are likely to be intensified to provide additional receptors and synaptic vesicles components (Mackiewicz et al. 2007). Such changes could not only lead to plastic changes but may also be associated with cellular stress responses, and there is an intriguing possibility that some of their underlying mechanisms might overlap. Specifically, one of the well established effects of physiological waking or sleep deprivation is an up-regulation of molecules involved in the unfolded protein response (UPR) (Cirelli 2002; Cirelli and Tononi 2000b; Naidoo et al. 2005; Terao et al. 2003), which is an adaptive mechanism of cellular stress triggered when misfolded proteins accumulate in the lumen of the endoplasmic reticulum (Sidrauski et al. 1998; Vyazovskiy and Harris 2013; Walter and Ron 2011). The endoplasmic reticulum is an important organelle involved in neurotransmission and synaptic plasticity, which are regulated by Ca⁺² release (Verkhratsky and Petersen 2002). Paracrine signaling mediated by activitydependent release of molecules such as TNF may be directly involved in triggering UPR (Xue et al. 2005), and promote the occurrence of local sleep-like activity (Churchill et al. 2008). It is possible that local neuronal down-states may prevent synaptic strength from increasing further, thereby protecting neurons from pathological hyperexcitability. It was proposed recently that local sleep-like activity may enable cellular maintenance processes (Vyazovskiy and Harris 2013), which could involve removal of AMPA receptors leading to a decrease in synaptic strength (Vyazovskiy et al. 2008a). The link between the changes at the level of protein synthesis and synaptic plasticity during waking has also been suggested by an increase in amyloid-beta during waking or sleep deprivation (Kang et al. 2009). It is possible that molecular chaperones, which constitute the primary biological defense against protein misfolding, and increase after waking (Terao et al. 2003) serve to protect the neurons from amyloid-beta aggregation as a result of intense synaptic activity during waking (Narayan et al. 2012). This notion is consistent with the hypothesis that increased neuronal activity during waking may lead to accumulation of protein fragments, which is reversed by sleep (Varshavsky 2012). Simpler preparations, such as in vitro neuronal cultures, which are capable of generating sustained sleep-like activity, appear to be a powerful model to address the link between specific patterns of network activity typical for waking and sleep and their corresponding molecular changes (Hinard et al. 2012).

5.2 Cellular Physiology and Sleep Homeostasis

In the last decades, much effort has been devoted to investigating state-dependent changes in the activity of individual cortical and subcortical neurons in vivo, in vitro, and under anesthesia. However, little has been done to address the effects of preceding history on the electrophysiological properties of individual neurons. More research is necessary since the effects observed may either arise from changes in (a) local or global neuromodulation, (b) neuronal excitability, (c) balance between excitation and inhibition, many other factors or their combined effects (Fig. 4). One possibility is that the effects of sleep-wake history on the electrophysiological properties of individual neurons could be mediated through voltage-dependent changes in the conformation of membrane-bound receptors (Rinne et al. 2013), which can be regulated by subcortical and cortical neuromodulation (McCormick 1992). Indeed, one study found that after 2 hours of sleep deprivation in young rats, the action of noradrenaline on the wake-promoting hypocretin/orexin (HCRT) neurons changed from excitation (75 % of cells) to inhibition (90 % of cells), and this effect was postsynaptic, as both excitatory and inhibitory responses persisted in tetrodotoxin or high magnesium/low calcium solutions (Grivel et al. 2005). This is an interesting observation, which could suggest that synaptic homeostasis in the neocortex may be regulated, at least in part, by functional changes controlled by subcortical neuromodulatory areas. A follow up study from the same group reported that sleep deprivation leads to an involvement of α_2 -adrenoreceptors, which are responsible for hyperpolarization of the orexinergic neurons (Uschakov et al. 2011). The authors suggested that this mechanism could lead to a decrease of their firing activity, thereby indirectly promoting sleep. There is also evidence that direct measures of synaptic strength are affected by preceding sleep-wake history. For example, another recent study found that waking is associated with an increase in the strength of glutamatergic synapses onto orexinergic neurons, as measured by an increase in amplitude and frequency of miniature excitatory postsynaptic currents (mEPSCs, "minis") (Rao et al. 2007). These results can suggest that sleep–wake history is an important determinant for the activity of various neuromodulatory subcortical systems, which are likely to be involved (directly or indirectly) in the plastic processes occurring during waking and sleep.

The SHY was addressed by several further studies, which attempted to directly assess various markers of synaptic strength at a single-cell level in the neocortex. Specifically, in one study, recordings from pyramidal cortical neurons in brain slices taken from sleeping and sleep-deprived mice and rats were performed. In all cases both frequency and amplitude of mEPSCs increased after waking and decreased after sleep, suggesting that a net increase in cortical synaptic strength occurs during waking both pre- and post-synaptically, while opposite changes occur during sleep (Liu et al. 2010). Interestingly, another study in mice found that after 8 h of partial sleep deprivation, achieved by a modified pedestal (flowerpot) over water method, the amplitude of miniature excitatory postsynaptic currents, recorded in layer V/VI pyramidal cells of the medial prefrontal cortex, were slightly reduced, while miniature inhibitory postsynaptic currents were unaffected, and intrinsic membrane excitability was increased (Winters et al. 2011). Thus, cortical areas and layers, neuronal subtypes, and their specific electrophysiological properties may be differentially affected by preceding waking activity. This is expected given the differences in the involvement of different neurons in specific activities, different patterns in their connectivity and other factors (Beltramo et al. 2013; Harris et al. 2011; Lapray et al. 2012; McCormick et al. 1985; Sakata and Harris 2009).

Unfortunately, existing patch clamp techniques (cell-attached or whole cell patch) do not allow continuous recording from single neurons across several hours-the timescale of the slow sleep-dependent homeostatic process. Performing long-term juxtacellular recordings is more feasible, but it has been mostly used to investigate state-dependent, rather than history-dependent changes in neuronal activity. For example, it was recently found in rats that parvalbumin-expressing basket GABA-ergic interneurons in the hippocampus change their firing consistent to changes in behavioral state (Lapray et al. 2012). Another rat study found that the activity (measured as c-Fos expression) of individual neurons located in the preoptic and lateral hypothalamic areas, was dependent on preceding sleep deprivation or time spent in deep NREM sleep (Hsieh et al. 2011). Specifically, the percentage of activated cells in Median Preoptic Nucleus (MnPN) and ventrolateral preoptic area (VLPO) correlated significantly with time spent in deep NREM sleep during the 1 h prior to sacrifice. This observation is interesting, as it was shown earlier that bilateral lesions of the VLPO in rats resulted in a decrease of sleep time and sleep EEG SWA, which was proportional to the area that was lesioned (Lu et al. 2000). Moreover, it was shown recently, also in rats, that infusion of A_{2A} adenosine receptor antagonist into the VLPO attenuated the increase in neuronal discharge induced by sleep deprivation (Alam et al. 2014). Although specific mechanisms of these changes remain to be established, since the hypothalamus is implicated in the regulation of state transitions (Saper et al. 2010), it is plausible that preceding history might affect both the strength of connectivity between cortical and subcortical neurons as well as the cortical neuromodulatory milieu, which could in turn promote sleep initiation, sleep maintenance, and sleep intensity.

5.3 Network Homeostasis

One of the most consistent observations in adult mammals is that sleep deprivation and prolonged physiological waking lead to increased EEG power in the slow wave range during subsequent sleep, which results from an increased incidence of high amplitude slow waves (Borbely et al. 1984; Huber et al. 2000b; Riedner et al. 2007; Vyazovskiy et al. 2006, 2007b; Vyazovskiy and Tobler 2005). Surprisingly, while increased SWA as a measure of preceding waking is well established, neither mechanistic explanation for it, nor its functional significance is clear.

As has been shown, EEG slow waves reflect the synchronous occurrence of down-states or off periods across large cortical populations (Buzsaki et al. 2012; Vyazovskiy et al. 2009b) (Figs. 1, 2). Anatomical studies suggest that the amplitude of slow wave activity can be accounted for by stronger connectivity between local and distant cortical regions (Piantoni et al. 2013; Vyazovskiy and Tobler 2005). Notably, it has been found that sleep with high SWA, such as under high sleep pressure, is characterized by increased local and global synchronization of cortical neuronal activity (Destexhe et al. 1999; Nir et al. 2011; Riedner et al. 2007; Vyazovskiy et al. 2004a, 2009b, 2011a), suggesting that either functional and/or anatomical connectivity is affected by preceding waking. It is important to emphasize that the slow oscillation is a network event, and for its expression it is essential that large, distributed interconnected neuronal populations engage in down-states near-simultaneously (Volgushev et al. 2006; Vyazovskiy and Harris 2013). The SHY provides a plausible mechanistic explanation for increased slow wave activity during early sleep after extended wakefulness (Esser et al. 2007; Hill and Tononi 2005; Riedner et al. 2007; Tononi and Cirelli 2006; Vyazovskiy et al. 2009a). Specifically, if cortical synaptic strength is affected by preceding waking or sleep, it would almost inevitably affect the local and global cortical dynamics, that would especially be apparent during spontaneous network activity during sleep (Vyazovskiy 2013; Vyazovskiy et al. 2011a).

Changes in the slope of slow waves usually parallel changes in slow wave amplitude. However, while slow wave slopes correlate with neuronal synchrony, the mechanisms underlying the changes in slow wave amplitude are less clear, and may be related to the duration of the population off periods (Vyazovskiy et al. 2009b). Indeed, although the higher amplitude of slow waves was often associated with steeper slope, this was not always the case, and several studies found steeper slopes after waking even after slow waves were matched by their amplitude (Esser et al. 2007; Riedner et al. 2007; Vyazovskiy et al. 2007b). While an LFP slope is an indirect measure of underlying neuronal synchrony, we also found that the



Fig. 5 a *Top panel* 600-ms record from the parietal EEG recorded in an individual rat during NREM sleep. Two individual slow waves (negativity downward) are apparent in this example. Vertical bars overlaid on the EEG trace denote the occurrences of neuronal spikes recorded concomitantly in the contralateral parietal cortex. *Bottom panel* raster plot of spiking activity of individual neurons shown on the *top panel*. Note that all neurons are silent during most of the downward deflection of the EEG signal, corresponding to slow waves. **b** An average profile of cortical multiunit activity (MUA) triggered by an occurrence of spontaneous EEG slow waves (time 0). Note that on average spiking activity during a slow wave is substantially decreased. *Dotted line* depicts the slope of the change in MUA corresponding to the downward slope of EEG slow wave. **c** Mean values (n = 4 rats) of the MUA slope (shown as *dotted line* on *panel B*) in early sleep (first 3 h period after light onset) and late sleep (last 3 h period of the same light period). Note that the MUA slope is more shallow in late sleep suggesting a decreased neuronal synchrony during the transition from network activity to network silence

slopes calculated based on the changes in cortical neuronal activity at on-off transitions also appear to be steeper in early sleep (Fig. 5).

It remains to be determined how the cortical networks self-organize in time and space to engage in synchronized slow wave activity, and what are the molecular mechanisms involved in synaptic plasticity, which are involved in this process. It was proposed recently that nitric oxide (NO), which is implicated strongly in synaptic plasticity in the cerebral cortex (Hardingham et al. 2013), may appear to be ideally placed to link homeostatic sleep drive with the observed changes in EEG SWA (Gerashchenko et al. 2008; Kilduff et al. 2011). Specifically, a novel sub-population of cortical inhibitory interneurons immunoreactive for neuronal nitric oxide synthase (nNOS) was found, which were activated after sleep deprivation in relation to cortical SWA (Morairty et al. 2013).

An essential step in the generation of slow wave activity is the initiation of an up state at the level of individual cortical neurons and its subsequent propagation across large cortical assemblies. It has been suggested that the onset of the up state is caused by a gradual membrane depolarization that builds up due to the summation of subthreshold events, which occur as a result of spontaneous neurotransmitter release (Chauvette et al. 2010; Timofeev et al. 2000). Once a subset of neurons enter an up state, they may be capable of recruiting other neurons, primarily those that receive the most dense or strongest projections from other



Fig. 6 a Schematic depiction of the position of six LFP bipolar concentric electrodes on the skull surface of a rat (*FR*, *FL* = frontal right, frontal left; *PR*, *PL* = parietal right, parietal left; *OR*, *OL* = occipital right, occipital left). *Right* frontal derivation was considered "origin" in this example, and sleep slow waves were detected in all six derivations. **b** The average delay was computed between the peaks of slow waves in FR and the peak of the next slow wave within the first 50 ms in the other five cortical derivations. Mean values \pm SEM, n = 6 rats. Note that the delay was shortest for the slow wave in the contralateral frontal cortex, and longest for the most posterior occipital derivations. However, in late sleep (last 3 h period of the light period) the delay was significantly longer as compared to early sleep (first 3 h period of the light period)

neurons (Vyazovskiy et al. 2011b). Similarly, in humans and rats, a volley of locally applied electrical or magnetic activity, sufficiently strong to excite and recruit a large cortical neuronal population, is capable of inducing full-fledged EEG slow waves during natural sleep (Massimini et al. 2007; Vyazovskiy et al. 2009a). Notably, individual slow waves appear to have a unique site of origin and a distinct route of propagation, originating more frequently in the anterior cortical areas both in humans and in animals (Leemburg et al. 2010; Massimini et al. 2004; Murphy et al. 2009; Nir et al. 2011; Riedner et al. 2011; Vyazovskiy et al. 2009a). Consistently, the frontal areas of the neocortex have been described as more vulnerable to sleep loss (Anderson and Horne 2003; Horne 1993). Moreover, during sleep deprivation the frontal derivations show a more pronounced increase in slow EEG frequencies, which are considered a waking counterpart of "sleep pressure" (Finelli et al. 2000). Interestingly, spontaneous sleep slow waves appear to propagate from the site of origin to distant cortical areas faster in early sleep as compared to late sleep (Fig. 6), supporting the notion of stronger (or more efficacious) network connectivity after a period of waking. In addition to intracortical mechanisms, there is strong evidence for an involvement of the thalamus in generating cortical slow waves (Crunelli and Hughes 2009; David et al. 2013). It remains to be determined whether the strength of thalamocortical connections is also modified by preceding waking duration or sensory experience.

5.4 Neuronal Structural Modifications Across the Sleep–Wake Cycle

The cortical activity during sleep ultimately arises from the anatomical patterns of cortical connectivity (Kurth et al. 2010; Murphy et al. 2009; Piantoni et al. 2013; Rattenborg 2006; Vyazovskiy et al. 2004a; Vyazovskiy and Tobler 2005). While the changes in network activity after waking and sleep, as a result of plastic changes, can be partly accounted for by an alteration of functional connectivity or subtle modifications in molecular machinery, the question remains whether different behavioral states are also associated with dynamic anatomical changes. Indeed, while functional modifications of synapses can confer flexibility to cortical circuitries, morphological changes could provide greater stability. For example, given a powerful role of subcortical neuromodulation in voltage-dependent properties of postsynaptic receptors (McCormick 1992), subtle functional modifications may be vulnerable to unspecific generalized changes in cortical excitability. On the other hand, structural changes present a significant demand in terms of biosynthetic work and energy requirements necessary to maintain newly formed or existing spines, and therefore must be subject to regulation. Indeed, unlike other tissues, the space within the cranium is limited, precluding unrestricted increase in the number of synaptic spines as a result of waking experience. Do waking and sleep lead to structural changes at the level of individual neurons?

The first evidence for sleep-wake dependent structural changes in the central nervous system came from a confocal microscopic study in Drosophila, in which it was found that protein levels of several key components of central synapses, such as bruchpilot, cysteine string protein, disks-large, dynapsin, and syntaxin were high after waking and low after sleep (Gilestro et al. 2009). These changes were related to the preceding behavioral state rather than the time of day, and occurred in all major areas of the Drosophila brain. The decrease of synaptic markers during sleep was progressive, and sleep was necessary for their decline. Simultaneously, in a similar fruit fly model, another study showed that social experience did not only increase sleep, but was also associated with an increase in the number of synaptic terminals. Moreover, the number of synaptic terminals was reduced during sleep and this decline was prevented by sleep deprivation (Donlea et al. 2009). More recently Bushey et al. described, in three different Drosophila neuronal circuits, that synapse size or number increased after a few hours of waking and decreased only if flies were allowed to sleep, while rich wake experience resulted in both larger synaptic growth and greater sleep need (Bushey et al. 2011). Finally, using time-lapse two-photon imaging of the presynaptic marker synaptophysin in zebrafish larvae HCRT neurons, it was recently shown that synapse number is affected not only by the time of day but also by preceding sleep-wake history (Appelbaum et al. 2010).

Similar changes in structural synaptic plasticity were also obtained in rodents. Specifically, in adolescent mice, using two-photon microscopy, it was found that waking results in a net increase in cortical spines, whereas sleep is associated with net spine loss (Maret et al. 2011; Yang and Gan 2012). Interestingly, the number of cortical spines did not change significantly across the sleep-wake cycle in adults, but only in adolescent mice, in which the turnover of spines is greater (Maret et al. 2011). This result indicates that, at least as far as superficial cortical layers are concerned, preceding history does not seem to lead to noticeable structural changes, and it may be that stronger stimulation or more intense waking experience is necessary for structural changes to be observed in adults animals. Moreover, the resolution of in vivo imaging techniques has so far prevented a systematic investigation of the effects of sleep and waking on synaptic volume. which could be modulated in the adult brain, similar to that seen for the number of synapses during adolescence. Interestingly, in the mouse olfactory bulb Yokoyama et al. found that elimination of adult-born granule cells occurs during postprandial behaviors, including sleep (Yokoyama et al. 2011), further suggesting that sleep may contribute to structural reorganization within the central nervous system. On the other hand, in the hippocampus prolonged sleep deprivation seems to reduce hippocampal cell proliferation, differentiation, and survival [for review see (Meerlo et al. 2009)].

5.5 Functional Implications

What are the functional consequences of plastic changes occurring during waking and sleep? Maintaining plastic changes within strictly controlled limits is not only important to assure sustainability of cortical circuits in terms of levels of excitability, availability of resources and brain "real estate" (Tononi and Cirelli 2003, 2006), but also in terms of functional consequences. While plastic changes may affect various aspects of brain physiology, the most important feature—the capacity for further change—deserves special attention.

Neuronal plasticity is manifested in several forms including potentiation and depression of synaptic transmission, which involve rapid adjustments in the strengths of individual synapses in response to specific patterns of correlated synaptic activity (Stellwagen and Malenka 2006), or in vivo experience (Rioult-Pedotti et al. 2000; Whitlock et al. 2006). An important property underlying long-term potentiation (LTP) is saturation, that is the relative inability to further enhance the amplitude of synaptic currents in response to a stimulus of increasing intensity or frequency (Heynen and Bear 2001). Saturation of both LTP and long-term depression (LTD) after repeated electrical or pharmacological stimulation was found in different species and preparations (Doyere et al. 1997; Frey et al. 1995; Heynen and Bear 2001; Lante et al. 2006; Moser et al. 1998).

A crucial observation was that the ability to learn and to induce LTP interact in a way suggestive of common substrates (Castro et al. 1989; Moser et al. 1998; Stefan et al. 2006; Ziemann 2004). For instance, after acquisition of a motor learning task both slope and amplitude of evoked potentials in the trained motor cortex increased relative to the contralateral, untrained one, suggesting the occurrence of LTP (Rioult-Pedotti et al. 1998). To confirm this point, the authors showed that the ability to electrically induce LTP was reduced in the trained motor cortex, while LTD was enhanced. Similar results were obtained in the hippocampus (Whitlock et al. 2006). Notably, there is also evidence suggesting that LTP-like plasticity may be partially saturated after wakefulness even without any specific learning paradigm. Thus, in vitro studies in the hippocampus showed that insufficient or fragmented sleep impairs the induction of LTP but favors the induction of LTD [e.g., (Campbell et al. 2002; Kopp et al. 2006; McDermott et al. 2003; Tartar et al. 2006)]. An alternative explanation could be that other, yet unknown, processes at the molecular level interfere with or inhibit further synaptic strengthening after prolonged wakefulness.

It has been proposed that one of the functions for synaptic renormalization during sleep is to prevent LTP saturation, thereby allowing further plastic changes during subsequent wakefulness. This notion is consistent with the hypothesis that LTD may prime a synapse in preparation for the expression of LTP (Braunewell and Manahan-Vaughan 2001). Interestingly, several studies in humans showed an impairment of episodic memory after total sleep deprivation, suggesting that sleep before learning is critical in preparing the brain for the acquisition of new memories (Curcio et al. 2006; Huber 2007; Turner et al. 2007; Yoo et al. 2007). Consistently, recent studies in rats demonstrated that LTP was successfully induced after a period of sleep, but it was partially occluded after a period of wakefulness (Vyazovskiy et al. 2008a, 2011a). Thus, the partial inability for further plastic changes after waking and its restoration after sleep can be explained in the framework of the SHY. Although several results are functionally consistent with the SHY main claim, a set of data seems to be in open contradiction with it. For instance, Chauvette et al. showed that cortical somatosensory evoked potentials induced in cats by electrical stimulation of the medial lemniscus were enhanced after a brief period of sleep (Chauvette et al. 2012), leading the authors to conclude that sleep is associated with synaptic potentiation. An alternative interpretation could be that enhanced somatosensory responses after a "power nap" reflect temporarily, improved signal-to-noise ratio and increased fidelity in the transmission of sensory information from the periphery. More studies are necessary to address this inconsistency and to investigate the role of other possibly confounding factors, such as sleep inertia, brain temperature, or glucocorticoids.

5.6 Behavioral Homeostasis

The ultimate function of sleep is to enable optimal behavior during next day wakefulness. Crucially, complex behaviors are intimately related to plasticity, inasmuch as they serve adaptive purposes. As has been argued above, while many innate behaviors are available at the animal's disposal, it is more advantageous to leave "room" for acquisition of new schemes which are necessary for facing the constantly changing environmental demands. During wakefulness, animals face environmental challenges that require an adequate behavioral response, and continuous behavioral adjustments involve learning, associated with neuronal plasticity (Whitlock et al. 2006). It is well established that sleep deprivation has serious consequences on subjective alertness, psychomotor vigilance, sustained attention, and many other cognitive functions (Killgore 2010; Lo et al. 2012; McCoy and Strecker 2011; Van Dongen et al. 2003). Thus, on one hand, behavior is inevitably associated with plastic changes in the relevant neural circuits, which occur during waking. On the other hand, they appear to be vulnerable to changes as waking time passes by. In this context two questions need to be addressed. First, is there a causal relationship between progressive incremental plastic changes during waking and impairments in cognition and behavior? Secondly, how can the behaviour benefit from synaptic homeostasis?

The challenge that necessarily has to be met is that it is difficult to disentangle the effects of preceding history from the ongoing behavioral state, which affects sensory function and motor output. Specifically, subjective experience, or behavioral performance can be temporarily restored even after a prolonged waking, for example by motivation or by administering wake-promoting substances. It has been shown that increased occurrence of local off periods within a specific cortical circuit correlates with reduced ability to perform a behavioral task (Vyazovskiy et al. 2011b). Such changes may occur in a use-dependent fashion: specifically, local wake "signature" of preceding activity has been shown recently in humans (Hung et al. 2013). Several studies suggest that network responsiveness to incoming inputs is modulated by the occurrence of off periods or slow waves (Massimini et al. 2003; Vyazovskiy et al. 2009a, 2013). It is possible, therefore, that the change in the balance of local and global interactions may not only lead to predictable sensory, behavioral and cognitive deficits, but also play a role in dynamic modifications of synaptic weights among distributed neuronal networks.

It is well known that attention is compromised after sleep deprivation, although underlying mechanisms remain unknown (McCoy and Strecker 2011). One possibility is that prolonged waking results in a global and unspecific synchronization between large neuronal populations, while gating relevant inputs requires local desynchronization and a highly selective synchronization among specific neuronal populations within a specific frequency range (Harris and Thiele 2011). Moreover, individual neurons vary in their responses to a specific stimulus, and the relative precision is achieved by "averaging" at the level of the whole population. However, if the functional connectivity between neurons is increased, a strong bias is introduced precipitating erroneous summed output, that could lead to longer reaction times or mistakes. Finally, local sleep at an individual neuron level may lead to a failure to respond or a stronger, but less selective response depending on the phase of ongoing population activity (Vyazovskiy et al. 2013).

Thus, if waking is associated with progressively increased synaptic strength, this could lead to a progressive increase in the number of neuronal off periods, that would alter dynamic relationships between critical networks, thereby precipitating behavioral deficits. Impaired performance due to the occurrence of local sleep



Fig. 7 According to the Synaptic Homeostasis Hypothesis, wakefulness is associated with a net increase in synaptic strength, while sleep leads to synaptic renormalization. The hypothesis is supported by several lines of evidence, such as altered expression of plasticity-related genes (*molecular*), changes in the pattern of activity of individual neurons (*cellular*), dendritic spines turnover (*structural*), local and global neuronal synchronization (*network*), saturation of synaptic responses (*functional*), increased energy requirements, and behavioral/learning impairments. The process of synaptic renormalization during sleep is hypothesized to be reflected in progressive homeostatic decrease of cortical EEG slow wave activity (*bottom*)

could, in turn, play the physiological role of a "sensing mechanism" by signaling the necessity to engage in a global sleep (Vyazovskiy and Tobler 2012). The process of synaptic renormalization occurring during sleep, by reducing net synaptic strength, would lead to an elimination of local off periods, restoring normal behavioral performance.

6 Conclusions

The ultimate function of wakefulness is to enable efficient interaction of the organism with the environment, which requires elaborate and diverse forms of neuronal plasticity. As sleep is necessary to enable normal waking functioning, and on the other hand depends on preceding waking, it is highly unlikely that it is not involved, directly or indirectly, in the regulation of neural plasticity. It should be emphasized that sleep is a highly complex phenomenon, occurring at many different spatial and temporal scales. Most existing hypotheses for the function of

sleep take into account only a small part of the broad repertoire of changes typical for sleep, such as cortico–hippocampal interactions, or reduced metabolism. However, in order to address sleep's function in a comprehensive way, a framework is necessary that reconciles such different phenomena as gene expression, fine synaptic modifications, activity of single cells and large networks, and whole animal behavior in a unified coherent picture. The SHY provides one such framework (Fig. 7).

Acknowledgments We would like to thank Drs Giulio Tononi and Chiara Cirelli for their valuable comments on the manuscript.

References

- Abbott LF, Nelson SB (2000) Synaptic plasticity: taming the beast. Nat Neurosci 3(Suppl):1178–1183
- Abel T, Havekes R, Saletin JM, Walker MP (2013) Sleep, plasticity and memory from molecules to whole-brain networks. Curr Biol 23:R774–R788
- Achermann P, Finelli LA, Borbely AA (2001) Unihemispheric enhancement of delta power in human frontal sleep EEG by prolonged wakefulness. Brain Res 913:220–223
- Alam MA, Kumar S, McGinty D, Alam MN, Szymusiak R (2014) Neuronal activity in the preoptic hypothalamus during sleep deprivation and recovery sleep. J Neurophysiol 111:287–299
- Alhaider IA, Aleisa AM, Tran TT, Alkadhi KA (2011) Sleep deprivation prevents stimulationinduced increases of levels of P-CREB and BDNF: protection by caffeine. Mol Cell Neurosci 46:742–751
- Anderson C, Horne JA (2003) Prefrontal cortex: links between low frequency delta EEG in sleep and neuropsychological performance in healthy, older people. Psychophysiology 40:349–357
- Appelbaum L, Wang G, Yokogawa T, Skariah GM, Smith SJ, Mourrain P, Mignot E (2010) Circadian and homeostatic regulation of structural synaptic plasticity in hypocretin neurons. Neuron 68:87–98
- Bailey CH, Kandel ER (2008) Synaptic remodeling, synaptic growth and the storage of long-term memory in Aplysia. Prog Brain Res 169:179–198
- Beltramo R, D'Urso G, Dal Maschio M, Farisello P, Bovetti S, Clovis Y, Lassi G, Tucci V, De Pietri Tonelli D, Fellin T (2013) Layer-specific excitatory circuits differentially control recurrent network dynamics in the neocortex. Nat Neurosci 16:227–234
- Bhakar AL, Dolen G, Bear MF (2012) The pathophysiology of fragile X (and what it teaches us about synapses). Annu Rev Neurosci 35:417–443
- Borbely AA (1982) A two process model of sleep regulation. Hum Neurobiol 1:195-204
- Borbély AA, Achermann P (2005) Sleep homeostasis and models of sleep regulation. In: Kryger MH, Roth T, Dement WC (eds) Principles and practice of sleep medicine. W. B. Saunders, Philadelphia, pp 405–417
- Borbely AA, Tobler I, Hanagasioglu M (1984) Effect of sleep deprivation on sleep and EEG power spectra in the rat. Behav Brain Res 14:171–182
- Borbely AA, Tononi G (1998) The quest for the essence of sleep. Daedalus 127:167-196
- Braunewell KH, Manahan-Vaughan D (2001) Long-term depression: a cellular basis for learning? Rev Neurosci 12:121–140
- Brown RE, Basheer R, McKenna JT, Strecker RE, McCarley RW (2012) Control of sleep and wakefulness. Physiol Rev 92:1087–1187

- Bushey D, Tononi G, Cirelli C (2011) Sleep and synaptic homeostasis: structural evidence in Drosophila. Science 332:1576–1581
- Buzsaki G, Anastassiou CA, Koch C (2012) The origin of extracellular fields and currents—EEG, ECoG, LFP and spikes. Nat Rev Neurosci 13:407–420
- Cajochen C, Foy R, Dijk DJ (1999) Frontal predominance of a relative increase in sleep delta and theta EEG activity after sleep loss in humans. Sleep Res Online 2:65–69
- Campbell IG, Guinan MJ, Horowitz JM (2002) Sleep deprivation impairs long-term potentiation in rat hippocampal slices. J Neurophysiol 88:1073–1076
- Caporale N, Dan Y (2008) Spike timing-dependent plasticity: a Hebbian learning rule. Annu Rev Neurosci 31:25–46
- Castro CA, Silbert LH, McNaughton BL, Barnes CA (1989) Recovery of spatial learning deficits after decay of electrically induced synaptic enhancement in the hippocampus. Nature 342:545–548
- Chauvette S, Seigneur J, Timofeev I (2012) Sleep oscillations in the thalamocortical system induce long-term neuronal plasticity. Neuron 75:1105–1113
- Chauvette S, Volgushev M, Timofeev I (2010) Origin of active states in local neocortical networks during slow sleep oscillation. Cereb Cortex 20:2660–2674
- Churchill L, Rector DM, Yasuda K, Fix C, Rojas MJ, Yasuda T, Krueger JM (2008) Tumor necrosis factor alpha: activity dependent expression and promotion of cortical column sleep in rats. Neuroscience 156:71–80
- Churchill L, Taishi P, Wang M, Brandt J, Cearley C, Rehman A, Krueger JM (2006) Brain distribution of cytokine mRNA induced by systemic administration of interleukin-1beta or tumor necrosis factor alpha. Brain Res 1120:64–73
- Cirelli C (2002) How sleep deprivation affects gene expression in the brain: a review of recent findings. J Appl Physiol 92:394–400
- Cirelli C, Faraguna U, Tononi G (2006) Changes in brain gene expression after long-term sleep deprivation. J Neurochem 98:1632–1645
- Cirelli C, Tononi G (2000a) Differential expression of plasticity-related genes in waking and sleep and their regulation by the noradrenergic system. J Neurosci 20:9187–9194
- Cirelli C, Tononi G (2000b) Gene expression in the brain across the sleep–waking cycle. Brain Res 885:303–321
- Cirelli C, Tononi G (2008) Is sleep essential? PLoS Biol 6:e216
- Crunelli V, Hughes SW (2009) The slow (<1 Hz) rhythm of non-REM sleep: a dialogue between three cardinal oscillators. Nat Neurosci 13:9–17
- Curcio G, Ferrara M, De Gennaro L (2006) Sleep loss, learning capacity and academic performance. Sleep Med Rev 10:323–337
- Daan S, Beersma DG, Borbely AA (1984) Timing of human sleep: recovery process gated by a circadian pacemaker. Am J Physiol 246:R161–R183
- David F, Schmiedt JT, Taylor HL, Orban G, Di Giovanni G, Uebele VN, Renger JJ, Lambert RC, Leresche N, Crunelli V (2013) Essential thalamic contribution to slow waves of natural sleep. J Neurosci 33:19599–19610
- Deboer T (2013) Behavioral and electrophysiological correlates of sleep and sleep homeostasis. Curr Top Behav Neurosci. doi:10.1007/7854_2013_248
- Destexhe A, Contreras D, Steriade M (1999) Spatiotemporal analysis of local field potentials and unit discharges in cat cerebral cortex during natural wake and sleep states. J Neurosci 19:4595–4608
- Diekelmann S, Born J (2010) The memory function of sleep. Nat Rev Neurosci 11:114-126
- Donlea JM, Ramanan N, Shaw PJ (2009) Use-dependent plasticity in clock neurons regulates sleep need in Drosophila. Science 324:105–108
- Doyere V, Srebro B, Laroche S (1997) Heterosynaptic LTD and depotentiation in the medial perforant path of the dentate gyrus in the freely moving rat. J Neurophysiol 77:571–578
- Ebendal T (1992) Function and evolution in the NGF family and its receptors. J Neurosci Res 32:461–470

- Esser SK, Hill SL, Tononi G (2007) Sleep homeostasis and cortical synchronization: I. Modeling the effects of synaptic strength on sleep slow waves. Sleep 30:1617–1630
- Faraguna U, Nelson A, Vyazovskiy VV, Cirelli C, Tononi G (2010) Unilateral cortical spreading depression affects sleep need and induces molecular and electrophysiological signs of synaptic potentiation in vivo. Cereb Cortex 20:2939–2947
- Faraguna U, Vyazovskiy VV, Nelson AB, Tononi G, Cirelli C (2008) A causal role for brainderived neurotrophic factor in the homeostatic regulation of sleep. J Neurosci 28:4088–4095
- Finelli LA, Baumann H, Borbely AA, Achermann P (2000) Dual electroencephalogram markers of human sleep homeostasis: correlation between theta activity in waking and slow-wave activity in sleep. Neuroscience 101:523–529
- Frank MG (2006) The mystery of sleep function: current perspectives and future directions. Rev Neurosci 17:375–392
- Franken P, Chollet D, Tafti M (2001) The homeostatic regulation of sleep need is under genetic control. J Neurosci 21:2610–2621
- Frey U, Schollmeier K, Reymann KG, Seidenbecher T (1995) Asymptotic hippocampal longterm potentiation in rats does not preclude additional potentiation at later phases. Neuroscience 67:799–807
- Fuhrmann G, Markram H, Tsodyks M (2002) Spike frequency adaptation and neocortical rhythms. J Neurophysiol 88:761–770
- Fujihara H, Sei H, Morita Y, Ueta Y, Morita K (2003) Short-term sleep disturbance enhances brain-derived neurotrophic factor gene expression in rat hippocampus by acting as internal stressor. J Mol Neurosci 21:223–232
- Gerashchenko D, Wisor JP, Burns D, Reh RK, Shiromani PJ, Sakurai T, de la Iglesia HO, Kilduff TS (2008) Identification of a population of sleep-active cerebral cortex neurons. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 105:10227–10232
- Gilestro GF, Tononi G, Cirelli C (2009) Widespread changes in synaptic markers as a function of sleep and wakefulness in Drosophila. Science 324:109–112
- Giuditta A, Rutigliano B, Vitale-Neugebauer A (1980) Influence of synchronized sleep on the biosynthesis of RNA in neuronal and mixed fractions isolated from rabbit cerebral cortex. J Neurochem 35:1267–1272
- Gomez-Palacio-Schjetnan A, Escobar ML (2013) Neurotrophins and synaptic plasticity. Curr Top Behav Neurosci 15:117–136
- Green JD, Arduini AA (1954) Hippocampal electrical activity in arousal. J Neurophysiol 17:533–557
- Grivel J, Cvetkovic V, Bayer L, Machard D, Tobler I, Muhlethaler M, Serafin M (2005) The wake-promoting hypocretin/orexin neurons change their response to noradrenaline after sleep deprivation. J Neurosci 25:4127–4130
- Guzman-Marin R, Ying Z, Suntsova N, Methippara M, Bashir T, Szymusiak R, Gomez-Pinilla F, McGinty D (2006) Suppression of hippocampal plasticity-related gene expression by sleep deprivation in rats. J Physiol 575:807–819
- Hagewoud R, Havekes R, Novati A, Keijser JN, Van der Zee EA, Meerlo P (2010) Sleep deprivation impairs spatial working memory and reduces hippocampal AMPA receptor phosphorylation. J Sleep Res 19:280–288
- Haider B, Duque A, Hasenstaub AR, McCormick DA (2006) Neocortical network activity in vivo is generated through a dynamic balance of excitation and inhibition. J Neurosci 26:4535–4545
- Hairston IS, Peyron C, Denning DP, Ruby NF, Flores J, Sapolsky RM, Heller HC, O'Hara BF (2004) Sleep deprivation effects on growth factor expression in neonatal rats: a potential role for BDNF in the mediation of delta power. J Neurophysiol 91:1586–1595
- Hanlon EC, Faraguna U, Vyazovskiy VV, Tononi G, Cirelli C (2009) Effects of skilled training on sleep slow wave activity and cortical gene expression in the rat. Sleep 32:719–729
- Hardingham N, Dachtler J, Fox K (2013) The role of nitric oxide in pre-synaptic plasticity and homeostasis. Front Cell Neurosci 7:190

- Harris KD, Bartho P, Chadderton P, Curto C, de la Rocha J, Hollender L, Itskov V, Luczak A, Marguet SL, Renart A et al (2011) How do neurons work together? Lessons from auditory cortex. Hear Res 271:37–53
- Harris KD, Thiele A (2011) Cortical state and attention. Nat Rev Neurosci 12:509-523
- Hengen KB, Lambo ME, Van Hooser SD, Katz DB, Turrigiano GG (2013) Firing rate homeostasis in visual cortex of freely behaving rodents. Neuron 80:335–342
- Heynen AJ, Bear MF (2001) Long-term potentiation of thalamocortical transmission in the adult visual cortex in vivo. J Neurosci 21:9801–9813
- Hill S, Tononi G (2005) Modeling sleep and wakefulness in the thalamocortical system. J Neurophysiol 93:1671–1698
- Hinard V, Mikhail C, Pradervand S, Curie T, Houtkooper RH, Auwerx J, Franken P, Tafti M (2012) Key electrophysiological, molecular, and metabolic signatures of sleep and wakefulness revealed in primary cortical cultures. J Neurosci 32:12506–12517
- Hobson JA, McCarley RW (1971) Cortical unit activity in sleep and waking. Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol 30:97–112
- Horne JA (1993) Human sleep, sleep loss and behaviour. Implications for the prefrontal cortex and psychiatric disorder. Br J Psychiatry 162:413–419
- Hsieh KC, Gvilia I, Kumar S, Uschakov A, McGinty D, Alam MN, Szymusiak R (2011) c-Fos expression in neurons projecting from the preoptic and lateral hypothalamic areas to the ventrolateral periaqueductal gray in relation to sleep states. Neuroscience 188:55–67
- Huber R (2007) Memory formation: sleep enough before learning. Curr Biol 17:R367-R368
- Huber R, Deboer T, Tobler I (2000a) Effects of sleep deprivation on sleep and sleep EEG in three mouse strains: empirical data and simulations. Brain Res 857:8–19
- Huber R, Deboer T, Tobler I (2000b) Topography of EEG dynamics after sleep deprivation in mice. J Neurophysiol 84:1888–1893
- Huber R, Ghilardi MF, Massimini M, Ferrarelli F, Riedner BA, Peterson MJ, Tononi G (2006) Arm immobilization causes cortical plastic changes and locally decreases sleep slow wave activity. Nat Neurosci 9:1169–1176
- Huber R, Ghilardi MF, Massimini M, Tononi G (2004) Local sleep and learning. Nature 430:78-81
- Huber R, Tononi G, Cirelli C (2007) Exploratory behavior, cortical BDNF expression, and sleep homeostasis. Sleep 30:129–139
- Hung CS, Sarasso S, Ferrarelli F, Riedner B, Ghilardi MF, Cirelli C, Tononi G (2013) Local experience-dependent changes in the wake EEG after prolonged wakefulness. Sleep 36:59–72
- Ibata K, Sun Q, Turrigiano GG (2008) Rapid synaptic scaling induced by changes in postsynaptic firing. Neuron 57:819–826
- Ji D, Wilson MA (2007) Coordinated memory replay in the visual cortex and hippocampus during sleep. Nat Neurosci 10:100–107
- Jones BE (2005) From waking to sleeping: neuronal and chemical substrates. Trends Pharmacol Sci 26:578–586
- Jones SG, Vyazovskiy VV, Cirelli C, Tononi G, Benca RM (2008) Homeostatic regulation of sleep in the white-crowned sparrow (Zonotrichia leucophrys gambelii). BMC Neurosci 9:47
- Kang JE, Lim MM, Bateman RJ, Lee JJ, Smyth LP, Cirrito JR, Fujiki N, Nishino S, Holtzman DM (2009) Amyloid-beta dynamics are regulated by orexin and the sleep-wake cycle. Science 326:1005–1007
- Kattler H, Dijk DJ, Borbely AA (1994) Effect of unilateral somatosensory stimulation prior to sleep on the sleep EEG in humans. J Sleep Res 3:159–164
- Kilduff TS, Cauli B, Gerashchenko D (2011) Activation of cortical interneurons during sleep: an anatomical link to homeostatic sleep regulation? Trends Neurosci 34:10–19
- Killgore WD (2010) Effects of sleep deprivation on cognition. Prog Brain Res 185:105-129
- Kopp C, Longordo F, Nicholson JR, Luthi A (2006) Insufficient sleep reversibly alters bidirectional synaptic plasticity and NMDA receptor function. J Neurosci 26:12456–12465
- Krueger JM, Obal F (1993) A neuronal group theory of sleep function. J Sleep Res 2:63-69

- Krueger JM, Obal FJ, Fang J, Kubota T, Taishi P (2001) The role of cytokines in physiological sleep regulation. Ann N Y Acad Sci 933:211–221
- Krueger JM, Rector DM, Roy S, Van Dongen HP, Belenky G, Panksepp J (2008) Sleep as a fundamental property of neuronal assemblies. Nat Rev Neurosci 9:910–919
- Krueger JM, Tononi G (2011) Local use-dependent sleep; synthesis of the new paradigm. Curr Top Med Chem 11:2490–2492
- Kurth S, Ringli M, Geiger A, LeBourgeois M, Jenni OG, Huber R (2010) Mapping of cortical activity in the first two decades of life: a high-density sleep electroencephalogram study. J Neurosci 30:13211–13219
- Lante F, Cavalier M, Cohen-Solal C, Guiramand J, Vignes M (2006) Developmental switch from LTD to LTP in low frequency-induced plasticity. Hippocampus 16:981–989
- Lapray D, Lasztoczi B, Lagler M, Viney TJ, Katona L, Valenti O, Hartwich K, Borhegyi Z, Somogyi P, Klausberger T (2012) Behavior-dependent specialization of identified hippocampal interneurons. Nat Neurosci 15:1265–1271
- Leemburg S, Vyazovskiy VV, Olcese U, Bassetti CL, Tononi G, Cirelli C (2010) Sleep homeostasis in the rat is preserved during chronic sleep restriction. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 107:15939–15944
- Liu ZW, Faraguna U, Cirelli C, Tononi G, Gao XB (2010) Direct evidence for wake-related increases and sleep-related decreases in synaptic strength in rodent cortex. J Neurosci 30:8671–8675
- Lo JC, Groeger JA, Santhi N, Arbon EL, Lazar AS, Hasan S, von Schantz M, Archer SN, Dijk DJ (2012) Effects of partial and acute total sleep deprivation on performance across cognitive domains, individuals and circadian phase. PLoS One 7:e45987
- Lockett GA, Wilkes F, Maleszka R (2010) Brain plasticity, memory and neurological disorders: an epigenetic perspective. NeuroReport 21:909–913
- Lu J, Greco MA, Shiromani P, Saper CB (2000) Effect of lesions of the ventrolateral preoptic nucleus on NREM and REM sleep. J Neurosci 20:3830–3842
- Lyamin OI, Pavlova IF, Kosenko PO, Mukhametov LM, Siegel JM (2012) Regional differences in cortical electroencephalogram (EEG) slow wave activity and interhemispheric EEG asymmetry in the fur seal. J Sleep Res 21:603–611
- Mackiewicz M, Shockley KR, Romer MA, Galante RJ, Zimmerman JE, Naidoo N, Baldwin DA, Jensen ST, Churchill GA, Pack AI (2007) Macromolecule biosynthesis: a key function of sleep. Physiol Genomics 31:441–457
- Malenka RC, Bear MF (2004) LTP and LTD: an embarrassment of riches. Neuron 44:5-21
- Maret S, Dorsaz S, Gurcel L, Pradervand S, Petit B, Pfister C, Hagenbuchle O, O'Hara BF, Franken P, Tafti M (2007) Homer1a is a core brain molecular correlate of sleep loss. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 104:20090–20095
- Maret S, Faraguna U, Nelson AB, Cirelli C, Tononi G (2011) Sleep and waking modulate spine turnover in the adolescent mouse cortex. Nat Neurosci 14:1418–1420
- Martinez-Gonzalez D, Lesku JA, Rattenborg NC (2008) Increased EEG spectral power density during sleep following short-term sleep deprivation in pigeons (Columba livia): evidence for avian sleep homeostasis. J Sleep Res 17:140–153
- Marzano C, Ferrara M, Curcio G, Gennaro LD (2009) The effects of sleep deprivation in humans: topographical electroencephalogram changes in non-rapid eye movement (NREM) sleep versus REM sleep. J Sleep Res 19:260–268
- Massimini M, Ferrarelli F, Esser SK, Riedner BA, Huber R, Murphy M, Peterson MJ, Tononi G (2007) Triggering sleep slow waves by transcranial magnetic stimulation. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 104:8496–8501
- Massimini M, Huber R, Ferrarelli F, Hill S, Tononi G (2004) The sleep slow oscillation as a traveling wave. J Neurosci 24:6862–6870
- Massimini M, Rosanova M, Mariotti M (2003) EEG slow (approximately 1 Hz) waves are associated with nonstationarity of thalamo-cortical sensory processing in the sleeping human. J Neurophysiol 89:1205–1213

- McCormick DA (1992) Neurotransmitter actions in the thalamus and cerebral cortex. J Clin Neurophysiol 9:212–223
- McCormick DA, Connors BW, Lighthall JW, Prince DA (1985) Comparative electrophysiology of pyramidal and sparsely spiny stellate neurons of the neocortex. J Neurophysiol 54:782–806
- McCoy JG, Strecker RE (2011) The cognitive cost of sleep lost. Neurobiol Learn Mem 96:564–582
- McDermott CM, LaHoste GJ, Chen C, Musto A, Bazan NG, Magee JC (2003) Sleep deprivation causes behavioral, synaptic, and membrane excitability alterations in hippocampal neurons. J Neurosci 23:9687–9695
- Meerlo P, Mistlberger RE, Jacobs BL, Heller HC, McGinty D (2009) New neurons in the adult brain: the role of sleep and consequences of sleep loss. Sleep Med Rev 13:187–194
- Meerlo P, Pragt BJ, Daan S (1997) Social stress induces high intensity sleep in rats. Neurosci Lett 225:41–44
- Mignot E (2008) Why we sleep: the temporal organization of recovery. PLoS Biol 6:e106
- Morairty SR, Dittrich L, Pasumarthi RK, Valladao D, Heiss JE, Gerashchenko D, Kilduff TS (2013) A role for cortical nNOS/NK1 neurons in coupling homeostatic sleep drive to EEG slow wave activity. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 110:20272–20277
- Moruzzi G (1972) Sleep–Waking Cycle. Ergebnisse Der Physiologie Biologischen Chemie Und Experimentellen Pharmakologie 64:1–165
- Moser EI, Krobert KA, Moser MB, Morris RG (1998) Impaired spatial learning after saturation of long-term potentiation. Science 281:2038–2042
- Mukhametov LM, Supin AY, Polyakova IG (1977) Interhemispheric asymmetry of the electroencephalographic sleep patterns in dolphins. Brain Res 134:581–584
- Murphy M, Riedner BA, Huber R, Massimini M, Ferrarelli F, Tononi G (2009) Source modeling sleep slow waves. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 106:1608–1613
- Naidoo N, Giang W, Galante RJ, Pack AI (2005) Sleep deprivation induces the unfolded protein response in mouse cerebral cortex. J Neurochem 92:1150–1157
- Narayan P, Meehan S, Carver JA, Wilson MR, Dobson CM, Klenerman D (2012) Amyloid-beta oligomers are sequestered by both intracellular and extracellular chaperones. Biochemistry 51:9270–9276
- Nava E, Roder B (2011) Adaptation and maladaptation insights from brain plasticity. Prog Brain Res 191:177–194
- Nir Y, Staba RJ, Andrillon T, Vyazovskiy VV, Cirelli C, Fried I, Tononi G (2011) Regional slow waves and spindles in human sleep. Neuron 70:153–169
- Nir Y, Vyazovskiy VV, Cirelli C, Banks MI, Tononi G (2013) Auditory Responses and stimulusspecific adaptation in rat auditory cortex are preserved across NREM and REM sleep. Cereb Cortex (in press)
- Noda H, Adey WR (1970) Firing of neuron pairs in cat association cortex during sleep and wakefulness. J Neurophysiol 33:672–684
- Obal F Jr, Krueger JM (2003) Biochemical regulation of non-rapid-eye-movement sleep. Front Biosci 8:d520–d550
- Okun M, Lampl I (2008) Instantaneous correlation of excitation and inhibition during ongoing and sensory-evoked activities. Nat Neurosci 11:535–537
- Oleksenko AI, Mukhametov LM, Polyakova IG, Supin AY, Kovalzon VM (1992) Unihemispheric sleep deprivation in bottlenose dolphins. J Sleep Res 1:40–44
- Parent JM, Yu TW, Leibowitz RT, Geschwind DH, Sloviter RS, Lowenstein DH (1997) Dentate granule cell neurogenesis is increased by seizures and contributes to aberrant network reorganization in the adult rat hippocampus. J Neurosci 17:3727–3738
- Petersen CC, Hahn TT, Mehta M, Grinvald A, Sakmann B (2003) Interaction of sensory responses with spontaneous depolarization in layer 2/3 barrel cortex. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100:13638–13643
- Piantoni G, Poil SS, Linkenkaer-Hansen K, Verweij IM, Ramautar JR, Van Someren EJ, Van Der Werf YD (2013) Individual differences in white matter diffusion affect sleep oscillations. J Neurosci 33:227–233

- Pickering M, Cumiskey D, O'Connor JJ (2005) Actions of TNF-alpha on glutamatergic synaptic transmission in the central nervous system. Exp Physiol 90:663–670
- Pigarev IN, Nothdurft HC, Kastner S (1997) Evidence for asynchronous development of sleep in cortical areas. NeuroReport 8:2557–2560
- Porkka-Heiskanen T, Zitting KM, Wigren HK (2013) Sleep, its regulation and possible mechanisms of sleep disturbances. Acta Physiol (Oxf) 208:311–328
- Qiu S, Korwek KM, Weeber EJ (2006) A fresh look at an ancient receptor family: emerging roles for low density lipoprotein receptors in synaptic plasticity and memory formation. Neurobiol Learn Mem 85:16–29
- Rao Y, Liu ZW, Borok E, Rabenstein RL, Shanabrough M, Lu M, Picciotto MR, Horvath TL, Gao XB (2007) Prolonged wakefulness induces experience-dependent synaptic plasticity in mouse hypocretin/orexin neurons. J Clin Invest 117:4022–4033
- Rattenborg NC (2006) Evolution of slow-wave sleep and palliopallial connectivity in mammals and birds: a hypothesis. Brain Res Bull 69:20–29
- Rattenborg NC, Amlaner CJ, Lima SL (2001) Unilateral eye closure and interhemispheric EEG asymmetry during sleep in the pigeon (Columba livia). Brain Behav Evol 58:323–332
- Rattenborg NC, Lima SL, Lesku JA (2012) Sleep locally, act globally. Neuroscientist 18:533-546
- Rechtschaffen A, Bergmann BM, Gilliland MA, Bauer K (1999) Effects of method, duration, and sleep stage on rebounds from sleep deprivation in the rat. Sleep 22:11–31
- Ribeiro S, Mello CV, Velho T, Gardner TJ, Jarvis ED, Pavlides C (2002) Induction of hippocampal long-term potentiation during waking leads to increased extrahippocampal zif-268 expression during ensuing rapid-eye-movement sleep. J Neurosci 22:10914–10923
- Ribeiro S, Shi X, Engelhard M, Zhou Y, Zhang H, Gervasoni D, Lin SC, Wada K, Lemos NA, Nicolelis MA (2007) Novel experience induces persistent sleep-dependent plasticity in the cortex but not in the hippocampus. Front Neurosci 1:43–55
- Riedner BA, Hulse BK, Murphy MJ, Ferrarelli F, Tononi G (2011) Temporal dynamics of cortical sources underlying spontaneous and peripherally evoked slow waves. Prog Brain Res 193:201–218
- Riedner BA, Vyazovskiy VV, Huber R, Massimini M, Esser S, Murphy M, Tononi G (2007) Sleep homeostasis and cortical synchronization: III. A high-density EEG study of sleep slow waves in humans. Sleep 30:1643–1657
- Rinne A, Birk A, Bunemann M (2013) Voltage regulates adrenergic receptor function. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 110:1536–1541
- Rioult-Pedotti MS, Friedman D, Donoghue JP (2000) Learning-induced LTP in neocortex. Science 290:533–536
- Rioult-Pedotti MS, Friedman D, Hess G, Donoghue JP (1998) Strengthening of horizontal cortical connections following skill learning. Nat Neurosci 1:230–234
- Rusterholz T, Durr R, Achermann P (2010) Inter-individual differences in the dynamics of sleep homeostasis. Sleep 33:491–498
- Sakata S, Harris KD (2009) Laminar structure of spontaneous and sensory-evoked population activity in auditory cortex. Neuron 64:404-418
- Saper CB, Fuller PM, Pedersen NP, Lu J, Scammell TE (2010) Sleep state switching. Neuron 68:1023-1042
- Seibt J, Dumoulin MC, Aton SJ, Coleman T, Watson A, Naidoo N, Frank MG (2012) Protein synthesis during sleep consolidates cortical plasticity in vivo. Curr Biol 22:676–682
- Sidrauski C, Chapman R, Walter P (1998) The unfolded protein response: an intracellular signalling pathway with many surprising features. Trends Cell Biol 8:245–249
- Sirota A, Montgomery S, Fujisawa S, Isomura Y, Zugaro M, Buzsaki G (2008) Entrainment of neocortical neurons and gamma oscillations by the hippocampal theta rhythm. Neuron 60:683–697
- Stefan K, Wycislo M, Gentner R, Schramm A, Naumann M, Reiners K, Classen J (2006) Temporary occlusion of associative motor cortical plasticity by prior dynamic motor training. Cereb Cortex 16:376–385

- Stellwagen D, Malenka RC (2006) Synaptic scaling mediated by glial TNF-alpha. Nature 440:1054–1059
- Steriade M, Contreras D, Curro Dossi R, Nunez A (1993a) The slow (<1 Hz) oscillation in reticular thalamic and thalamocortical neurons: scenario of sleep rhythm generation in interacting thalamic and neocortical networks. J Neurosci 13:3284–3299
- Steriade M, Nunez A, Amzica F (1993b) Intracellular analysis of relations between the slow (<1 Hz) neocortical oscillation and other sleep rhythms of the electroencephalogram. J Neurosci 13:3266–3283
- Steriade M, Nunez A, Amzica F (1993c) A novel slow (<1 Hz) oscillation of neocortical neurons in vivo: depolarizing and hyperpolarizing components. J Neurosci 13:3252–3265
- Steriade M, Timofeev I, Grenier F (2001) Natural waking and sleep states: a view from inside neocortical neurons. J Neurophysiol 85:1969–1985
- Tartar JL, Ward CP, McKenna JT, Thakkar M, Arrigoni E, McCarley RW, Brown RE, Strecker RE (2006) Hippocampal synaptic plasticity and spatial learning are impaired in a rat model of sleep fragmentation. Eur J Neurosci 23:2739–2748
- Terao A, Steininger TL, Hyder K, Apte-Deshpande A, Ding J, Rishipathak D, Davis RW, Heller HC, Kilduff TS (2003) Differential increase in the expression of heat shock protein family members during sleep deprivation and during sleep. Neuroscience 116:187–200
- Timofeev I, Grenier F, Bazhenov M, Sejnowski TJ, Steriade M (2000) Origin of slow cortical oscillations in deafferented cortical slabs. Cereb Cortex 10:1185–1199
- Tobler I (2005) Phylogeny of sleep regulation. In: Kryger MH, Roth T, Dement WC (eds) Principles and practice of sleep medicine. W. B. Saunders, Philadelphia
- Tobler I, Borbely AA (1986) Sleep EEG in the rat as a function of prior waking. Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol 64:74–76
- Tononi G, Cirelli C (2003) Sleep and synaptic homeostasis: a hypothesis. Brain Res Bull 62:143–150
- Tononi G, Cirelli C (2006) Sleep function and synaptic homeostasis. Sleep Med Rev 10:49-62
- Tononi G, Cirelli C (2014) Sleep and the price of plasticity: from synaptic and cellular homeostasis to memory consolidation and integration. Neuron 81:12–34
- Turner TH, Drummond SP, Salamat JS, Brown GG (2007) Effects of 42 h of total sleep deprivation on component processes of verbal working memory. Neuropsychology 21:787–795
- Turrigiano GG (1999) Homeostatic plasticity in neuronal networks: the more things change, the more they stay the same. Trends Neurosci 22:221–227
- Turrigiano GG (2008) The self-tuning neuron: synaptic scaling of excitatory synapses. Cell 135:422-435
- Uschakov A, Grivel J, Cvetkovic-Lopes V, Bayer L, Bernheim L, Jones BE, Muhlethaler M, Serafin M (2011) Sleep-deprivation regulates alpha-2 adrenergic responses of rat hypocretin/ orexin neurons. PLoS One 6:e16672
- Van Dongen HP, Maislin G, Mullington JM, Dinges DF (2003) The cumulative cost of additional wakefulness: dose-response effects on neurobehavioral functions and sleep physiology from chronic sleep restriction and total sleep deprivation. Sleep 26:117–126
- Varshavsky A (2012) Augmented generation of protein fragments during wakefulness as the molecular cause of sleep: a hypothesis. Protein Sci 21:1634–1661
- Verkhratsky A, Petersen OH (2002) The endoplasmic reticulum as an integrating signalling organelle: from neuronal signalling to neuronal death. Eur J Pharmacol 447:141–154
- Verzeano M, Negishi K (1960) Neuronal activity in cortical and thalamic networks. J Gen Physiol 43(6)Suppl:177–195
- Volgushev M, Chauvette S, Mukovski M, Timofeev I (2006) Precise long-range synchronization of activity and silence in neocortical neurons during slow-wave oscillations [corrected]. J Neurosci 26:5665–5672
- Vyazovskiy V, Achermann P, Borbely AA, Tobler I (2004a) Interhemispheric coherence of the sleep electroencephalogram in mice with congenital callosal dysgenesis. Neuroscience 124:481–488

- Vyazovskiy V, Borbely AA, Tobler I (2000) Unilateral vibrissae stimulation during waking induces interhemispheric EEG asymmetry during subsequent sleep in the rat. J Sleep Res 9:367–371
- Vyazovskiy VV (2013) Cortical neuronal mechanisms of sleep homeostasis. Zh Vyssh Nerv Deiat Im I P Pavlova 63:13-23
- Vyazovskiy VV, Achermann P, Borbely AA, Tobler I (2004b) The dynamics of spindles and EEG slow-wave activity in NREM sleep in mice. Arch Ital Biol 142:511–523
- Vyazovskiy VV, Achermann P, Tobler I (2007a) Sleep homeostasis in the rat in the light and dark period. Brain Res Bull 74:37–44
- Vyazovskiy VV, Borbely AA, Tobler I (2002a) Interhemispheric sleep EEG asymmetry in the rat is enhanced by sleep deprivation. J Neurophysiol 88:2280–2286
- Vyazovskiy VV, Cirelli C, Pfister-Genskow M, Faraguna U, Tononi G (2008a) Molecular and electrophysiological evidence for net synaptic potentiation in wake and depression in sleep. Nat Neurosci 11:200–208
- Vyazovskiy VV, Cirelli C, Tononi G (2011a) Electrophysiological correlates of sleep homeostasis in freely behaving rats. Prog Brain Res 193:17–38
- Vyazovskiy VV, Cirelli C, Tononi G, Tobler I (2008b) Cortical metabolic rates as measured by 2-deoxyglucose-uptake are increased after waking and decreased after sleep in mice. Brain Res Bull 75:591–597
- Vyazovskiy VV, Deboer T, Rudy B, Lau D, Borbely AA, Tobler I (2002b) Sleep EEG in mice that are deficient in the potassium channel subunit K.v.3.2. Brain Res 947:204–211
- Vyazovskiy VV, Faraguna U, Cirelli C, Tononi G (2009a) Triggering slow waves during NREM sleep in the rat by intracortical electrical stimulation: effects of sleep/wake history and background activity. J Neurophysiol 101:1921–1931
- Vyazovskiy VV, Harris KD (2013) Sleep and the single neuron: the role of global slow oscillations in individual cell rest. Nat Rev Neurosci 14:443–451
- Vyazovskiy VV, Olcese U, Cirelli C, Tononi G (2013) Prolonged wakefulness alters neuronal responsiveness to local electrical stimulation of the neocortex in awake rats. J Sleep Res 22: 239–250
- Vyazovskiy VV, Olcese U, Hanlon EC, Nir Y, Cirelli C, Tononi G (2011b) Local sleep in awake rats. Nature 472:443–447
- Vyazovskiy VV, Olcese U, Lazimy YM, Faraguna U, Esser SK, Williams JC, Cirelli C, Tononi G (2009b) Cortical firing and sleep homeostasis. Neuron 63:865–878
- Vyazovskiy VV, Riedner BA, Cirelli C, Tononi G (2007b) Sleep homeostasis and cortical synchronization: II. A local field potential study of sleep slow waves in the rat. Sleep 30:1631–1642
- Vyazovskiy VV, Ruijgrok G, Deboer T, Tobler I (2006) Running wheel accessibility affects the regional electroencephalogram during sleep in mice. Cereb Cortex 16:328–336
- Vyazovskiy VV, Tobler I (2005) Regional differences in NREM sleep slow-wave activity in mice with congenital callosal dysgenesis. J Sleep Res 14:299–304
- Vyazovskiy VV, Tobler I (2008) Handedness leads to interhemispheric EEG asymmetry during sleep in the rat. J Neurophysiol 99:969–975
- Vyazovskiy VV, Tobler I (2012) The temporal structure of behaviour and sleep homeostasis. PLoS One 7:e50677
- Vyazovskiy VV, Tobler I, Winsky-Sommerer R (2007c) Alteration of behavior in mice by muscimol is associated with regional electroencephalogram synchronization. Neuroscience 147:833–841
- Vyazovskiy VV, Welker E, Fritschy JM, Tobler I (2004c) Regional pattern of metabolic activation is reflected in the sleep EEG after sleep deprivation combined with unilateral whisker stimulation in mice. Eur J Neurosci 20:1363–1370
- Walter P, Ron D (2011) The unfolded protein response: from stress pathway to homeostatic regulation. Science 334:1081–1086
- Werth E, Achermann P, Borbely AA (1996) Brain topography of the human sleep EEG: anteroposterior shifts of spectral power. NeuroReport 8:123–127

- Whitlock JR, Heynen AJ, Shuler MG, Bear MF (2006) Learning induces long-term potentiation in the hippocampus. Science 313:1093–1097
- Winters BD, Huang YH, Dong Y, Krueger JM (2011) Sleep loss alters synaptic and intrinsic neuronal properties in mouse prefrontal cortex. Brain Res 1420:1–7
- Xue X, Piao JH, Nakajima A, Sakon-Komazawa S, Kojima Y, Mori K, Yagita H, Okumura K, Harding H, Nakano H (2005) Tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNFalpha) induces the unfolded protein response (UPR) in a reactive oxygen species (ROS)-dependent fashion, and the UPR counteracts ROS accumulation by TNFalpha. J Biol Chem 280:33917–33925
- Yang G, Gan WB (2012) Sleep contributes to dendritic spine formation and elimination in the developing mouse somatosensory cortex. Dev Neurobiol 72:1391–1398
- Yokoyama TK, Mochimaru D, Murata K, Manabe H, Kobayakawa K, Kobayakawa R, Sakano H, Mori K, Yamaguchi M (2011) Elimination of adult-born neurons in the olfactory bulb is promoted during the postprandial period. Neuron 71:883–897
- Yoo SS, Hu PT, Gujar N, Jolesz FA, Walker MP (2007) A deficit in the ability to form new human memories without sleep. Nat Neurosci 10:385–392
- Zavada A, Strijkstra AM, Boerema AS, Daan S, Beersma DG (2009) Evidence for differential human slow-wave activity regulation across the brain. J Sleep Res 18:3–10
- Ziemann U (2004) LTP-like plasticity in human motor cortex. Suppl Clin Neurophysiol 57:702–707